### FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 8/29/2024 12:35 PM

### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/29/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. Case #: 1034199

NO. 57795-0-II

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### ROGER ROBATCEK,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

The Honorable Thad Scudder, Judge

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Petitioner NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121 206-623-2373

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW 1
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
D.	<u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u> <u>AND ARGUMENT</u> 5
	1. First-Degree Animal Cruelty requires more than intent to cause mild discomfort
	2. The evidence is insufficient to prove Robatcek intentionally caused physical injury11
	3. Review is warranted because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest
E.	CONCLUSION

.

-

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# WASHINGTON CASES

•

.

.

Ball v. Stokely Foods, Inc. 37 Wn.2d 79, 221 P.2d 832 (1950)9		
Birgen v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus. 186 Wn. App. 851, 347 P.3d 503 (2015)5		
<u>Davis v. Dep't of Licensing</u> 137 Wn.2d 957, 977 P.2d 554 (1999)7		
<u>State v. Gore</u> 101 Wn.2d 481, 681 P.2d 227 (1984)9		
<u>State v. J.P.</u> 149 Wn.2d 444, 69 P.3d 318 (2003)7		
<u>State v. Jackson</u> 137 Wn.2d 712, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999)		
<u>State v. Roggenkamp</u> 153 Wn.2d 614, 106 P.3d 196 (2005)5		
<u>State v. Votava</u> 149 Wn.2d 178, 66 P.3d 1050 (2003)5		
<u>State v. Zawistowski</u> 119 Wn. App. 730, 82 P.3d 698 (2004)10		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

# RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

RAP 13.4 1, 13
RCW 9A.04.110
RCW 16.52.205
RCW 16.52.207
Ross, Winston "How Science Is Revolutionizing the World of Dog Training" Time (Aug. 25, 2020)
Title 9A RCW6
Title 16 RCW

×

### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW</u>

Roger Robatcek, appellant below, asks this Court to grant review, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Robatcek</u>, no. 57795-0-II, filed on July 30, 2024. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

### B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. First-degree animal cruelty may be committed by intentionally causing physical injury to or inflicting substantial pain on an animal. Did the trial court err by concluding that "physical injury" includes all pain, thereby rendering meaningless the alternative "substantial pain" prong of the statute?

2. Robatcek fired his air-powered BB gun at the dog's rear end with the intent to "tap" the animal to make it stop barking or relocate. Was the evidence insufficient to prove the specific intent to cause physical injury?

-1-

### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

70-year-old Roger Robatcek had lived in his Longview home nearly all his life when new neighbors moved in next door. RP 53-54. They routinely left their dog, a shih tzu, unattended and barking in the yard. RP 55. When Robatcek approached them about the noisy nuisance, they became hostile and began slamming car doors unnecessarily in the wee hours of the morning to harass him. RP 55, 65-66.

On April 4, the shih tzu was tethered, unattended, and barking yet again. RP 58-59. Pushed to the end of his patience, Robatcek decided to ping the animal in the rear end with his BB gun in hopes of making it stop barking or relocate to a different part of the property. RP 59. He was approximately 12-13 yards away when he fired. RP 60.

The air-powered, pump-action BB gun varies both in power and accuracy according to the number of times the pump is activated. RP 67, 70. A test-firing showed that it could hit with one to two inches of accuracy at a distance of seven yards after being pumped ten times. RP 68-71.

Before aiming at the dog's rear end, Robatcek intentionally pumped only a couple of times. RP 59-60. He did not know whether he hit the dog or not, but it stopped barking and wandered off under the porch. RP 60-61. Unfortunately, the dog must have turned at precisely the wrong moment because it was hit in the eye, which had to be removed. RP 33-36. Robatcek acknowledged his conduct was inappropriate but argued it did not rise to the level of first-degree animal cruelty because he did not intend to cause substantial pain or physical injury. RP 62, 75-76.

The court believed Robatcek that he did not intend the level of injury that resulted. RP 82. The court stated that, if the law required intent to inflict substantial pain, it would find Robatcek not guilty. RP 81-82. However, the court turned to the definition of "physical injury" found in RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a), which includes "physical pain." RP 81. From this, the court concluded that any pain, however slight, was sufficient to

-3-

constitute physical injury. RP 81-82. The court concluded that, by firing the BB gun at the dog, Robatcek intended to cause at least some pain and was, therefore guilty of first-degree animal cruelty under the "physical injury" prong of the statute. RP 82.

The court imposed a standard range sentence of 35 days with 30 converted to community service. CP 12.

On appeal, Robatcek argued the trial court erred in applying the definition of physical injury that encompassed any pain whatsoever because this interpretation rendered meaningless the "substantial pain" prong of the statute. Robatcek further argued that the evidence was insufficient to show he intended to cause physical injury (when properly defined) or substantial pain. The Court of Appeals rejected both arguments. Robatcek seeks this Court's discretionary review.

### D. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u> <u>AND ARGUMENT</u>

# 1. First-Degree Animal Cruelty requires more than intent to cause mild discomfort.

This case concerns the interpretation of the phrase "physical injury" as used in the first-degree animal cruelty statute, RCW 16.52.205(1). The meaning of statutory language is an issue of law, reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Votava</u>, 149 Wn.2d 178, 183, 66 P.3d 1050 (2003). The purpose of statutory interpretation is to effectuate the intent of the legislature. <u>Birgen v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.</u>, 186 Wn. App. 851, 857, 347 P.3d 503 (2015). The process begins with the plain language. <u>State v.</u> <u>Roggenkamp</u>, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196 (2005).

First-degree animal cruelty is a class C felony. It is committed when a person "intentionally (a) inflicts substantial pain on, (b) causes physical injury to, or (c) kills an animal by a means causing undue suffering or while manifesting an extreme indifference to life, or forces a minor to inflict unnecessary pain, injury, or death on an animal." RCW 16.52.205. Neither "physical injury" nor "substantial pain" is defined in Title 16 RCW. The trial court, therefore turned to the definition of "physical injury" found, not in Title 16 RCW, but in Title 9A, the criminal code, namely, RCW 9A.04.110(4). That statute defines "bodily injury," "physical injury," or "bodily harm" as meaning "physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition." RCW 9A.04.110(4). From this, the trial court concluded that the term "physical injury" included virtually any pain. <u>See</u> RP 82 ("Doesn't have to be a great deal of pain. It just has to be pain.").

The trial court's interpretation of the statute was incorrect because it renders superfluous the "substantial pain" prong of the statute, leaving no possible conduct to which that prong could apply that would not also be covered under the "physical injury" subsection. The trial court's interpretation was also incorrect because the rule of lenity requires this criminal statute be strictly construed in favor of the accused. The issue before this Court is whether the term "physical injury," as used in the first-degree animal cruelty statute, encompasses all pain (including minor discomfort) or whether, as Robatcek argues, a more limited definition of physical injury must apply.

It is well-established that "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." <u>State v. J.P.</u>, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003) (quoting <u>Davis v. Dep't</u> <u>of Licensing</u>, 137 Wn.2d 957, 963, 977 P.2d 554 (1999)). Under this principle, the term "physical injury" cannot include any and all pain regardless of severity.

The court erred in importing this definition of physical injury into the animal cruelty statute because to do so renders subsection (1)(a) of the animal cruelty statute superfluous. One alternative means of committing first-degree animal cruelty is to intentionally inflict "substantial pain" on an animal. RCW 16.52.205(1)(a). A second alternative means is to intentionally cause "physical injury." If the term "physical injury" encompasses any pain whatsoever, including minor discomfort, then that renders utterly superfluous the separate means of intentionally causing "substantial pain."

Under the trial court's interpretation of the statute, the intent to cause any amount of pain qualifies as intentionally causing physical injury and is therefore the crime of first-degree animal cruelty under prong (a) of the statute. Prong (b), however, expressly criminalizes intentionally causing "substantial pain." If the trial court's interpretation of prong (a) is correct, there is no purpose to prong (b). There is no conduct criminalized under prong (b)'s "substantial pain" standard that would not already be criminalized under prong (a) as physical injury. This interpretation renders prong (b) superfluous.

A single word or term in a statute should not be read in isolation; "the meaning of words may be indicated or controlled by those with which they are associated." <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 137 Wn.2d 712, 729, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999) (quoting <u>Ball v. Stokely</u>

-8-

<u>Foods, Inc.</u>, 37 Wn.2d 79, 87-88, 221 P.2d 832 (1950)). The court should consider the natural meaning attaching to the context in which the phrase is used and adopt the meaning that harmonizes with that context. <u>Jackson</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 729.

In the context of the first-degree animal cruelty statute, the legislature appears to have intended that each prong cover different conduct. Prong (a) criminalizes the causing of physical injury, regardless of whether substantial pain results. Prong (b) covers the reverse possibility, conduct that causes substantial pain regardless of whether identifiable physical injury results.

The rule of lenity also mandates this interpretation. The rule of lenity applies when two possible constructions of a criminal statute are permissible. <u>State v. Gore</u>, 101 Wn.2d 481, 485–86, 681 P.2d 227 (1984). The rule requires the court to construe the statute strictly against the state and in favor of the accused. <u>Gore</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 486. Here, the court's interpretation of the "physical injury" language as encompassing all pain is only one possible interpretation. It is equally reasonable to

-9-

interpret the language as encompassing something separate from pain due to the existence of the alternative "substantial pain" prong. Under the rule of lenity, the statute must be strictly construed to avoid punishing the infliction of minor discomfort as a felony.

The dictionary definition of pain encompasses everything from acute, unbearable agony to mild discomfort. <u>State v.</u> <u>Zawistowski</u>, 119 Wn. App. 730, 734, 82 P.3d 698 (2004). The trial court's reasoning reflected this understanding when it reflected that it was "not a real high standard" and "doesn't have to be a great deal of pain. It just has to be pain." RP 81-82. There is no indication the legislature intended to criminalize the infliction of even mild discomfort as a class C felony. This Court should grant review and hold that first-degree animal cruelty requires more than intent to cause some pain. It requires the intent to cause "substantial pain" or actual "physical injury," not merely the intentional infliction of any amount of pain or discomfort. Robatcek's conviction must be reversed because the record fails to show such intent beyond a reasonable doubt.

# 2. The evidence is insufficient to prove Robatcek intentionally caused physical injury.

The trial court erred in finding Robatcek guilty of firstdegree animal cruelty under the "physical injury" prong of the statute because the evidence is insufficient to show Robatcek intended to cause physical injury. No evidence was presented that Robatcek *intended* to cause actual physical injury. He testified he tried to ping the animal in the behind to motivate it to stop barking or change locations. RP 59. While he was likely reckless in his use of the BB gun to do so, that is insufficient.

The trial court expressly found Robatcek did *not* intend the injury that resulted. RP 82. Merely causing physical injury, without the specific intent, is not first-degree animal cruelty. RCW 16.52.205. Reckless infliction of unnecessary pain or suffering upon an animal constitutes *second*-degree animal cruelty, a gross misdemeanor. RCW 16.52.207.

-11-

.....

The court only found Robatcek guilty because it believed that he intentionally caused some degree of pain. RP 81-82. As discussed above, this is insufficient as a matter of law. The court's ruling shows it did not believe the state proved intent to cause substantial harm or actual physical injury. The failure to prove this essential element requires reversal and dismissal with prejudice.

# 3. Review is warranted because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest.

This case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the court's interpretation of the first-degree animal cruelty statute effectively criminalizes common animal training techniques. While recent trends may be away from physical punishment, the infliction of minor pain or discomfort as a method of training or discipline remains common. Ross, Winston "How Science Is Revolutionizing the World of Dog Training" Time (Aug. 25, 2020) available at https://time.com/5880219/science-of-dog-training/ (last visited 8/14/24) (discussing trend away from negative training methods

-12-

such as shock collars, choke collars, dominance behaviors such as shaking a dog by the scruff of the neck). In commonly used techniques of animal control, dogs are subjected to choke collars, or shock collars. Cattle are confined by electrified fencing. Cats are squirted in the face with water.

Animals often live in homes where they must be controlled by humans, who may lack access to the best practices regarding behavior training using only positive reinforcement techniques. The current opinion criminalizes such pet-owners to a degree that contravenes legislative intent and the rule of lenity. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and reverse.

### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, Robatcek asks this Court to accept review and reverse his conviction.

DATED this 29th day of August, 2024.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software in 14-point font and contains 2,062 words excluding the parts exempted by RAP 18.17.

> Respectfully submitted, NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

Jennifer J. SWEIGERT, WSBA No. 38068

Attorneys for Appellant

-

# APPENDIX

\*

4

•

Filed Washington State Court of Appeals Division Two

July 30, 2024

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

No. 57795-0-II

Respondent,

v.

ROGER AUGUST ROBATCEK,

Appellant.

#### UNPUBLISHED OPINION

VELJACIC, A.C.J. — Roger Robatcek appeals his conviction for one count of animal cruelty in the first degree. He argues the superior court erred when applying the definition of "physical injury" under RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to animal cruelty under RCW 16.52.205(1). He also argues that there is insufficient evidence supporting his conviction of animal cruelty. Finally, Robatcek argues that the trial court's order requiring him to pay the victim penalty assessment (VPA) and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) collection fees as legal financial obligations (LFOs) is unauthorized and must be stricken from the judgment.

We conclude that the trial court did not err in applying the definition in RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to animal cruelty under RCW 16.52.205. We also conclude that there was sufficient evidence proving Robatcek's conviction for animal cruelty in the first degree. Finally, we accept the State's concession and remand for the trial court to strike the VPA and DNA fees.

#### FACTS

In the afternoon of April 5, 2022, Nicholas Scardino was in his backyard working on his lawn mower. His 12 year-old dog, Pepe, was tethered in front of their home.

Around 3 PM, his neighbor, Robatcek, arrived home after running some errands. While unloading his groceries, Pepe was barking, which aggravated Robatcek. The barking lasted 15 to 20 minutes. In response, Robatcek devised a plan to "pop [Pepe] in the ass" with his airsoft bullet ball gun (BB gun) in an attempt to get Pepe to "quit barking" and go under the porch. Rep. of Proc. (RP) at 59. Robatcek went inside his home, got his BB gun, pumped it "just a couple" of times, aimed at Pepe, and fired. RP at 59.

Peering around the side of the houses, Nicholas<sup>1</sup> saw Robatcek aim at Pepe and fire. After firing, Nicholas asked Robatcek what he was doing; Robatcek did not answer. Nicholas asked again and Robatcek sneered while stating, "I shot your dog because it was barking" and proceeded to go in his house. RP at 32. Nicholas went to the front of the house where he found Pepe under the porch, picked him up, and saw that Pepe's eye was "bleeding everywhere." RP at 33. Nicholas called the police and his mother, Sheila Scardino, at work.

Officer Hunter Heim and animal control officer Ariana West arrived at the scene. Sheila arrived shortly after. Upon arrival, West stated Nicholas was "very shaken up" and "crying." RP at 47. West also noticed blood spots all over the floor. West added that Pepe's eye had constant blood dripping from it. West proceeded to call multiple vets in the county to inquire about getting Pepe care.

In his report, Heim noted that he spoke with Latricia Knox, Robatcek's other neighbor. Knox stated that Robatcek had previously threatened to kill her dog. Heim also reported that Robatcek said he did not shoot Pepe.

The State charged Robatcek with one count of animal cruelty in the first degree.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Due to Nicholas and his mother, Sheila, having the same surname, Scardino, we will refer to each by their first names. No disrespect is intended.

At trial, Nicholas, Robatcek, and West recounted the aforementioned facts. The trial court also heard testimony from Sheila, Walter Wentz, and Dr. Janine Hart. Sheila stated she received the call from Nicholas telling her Pepe was shot in the eye. When she arrived home, Pepe's eye was bleeding and he was hiding in her room. A bit later, because there were no vets in the county that could care for Pepe, Sheila's brother arrived and drove them to Portland, Oregon, to receive emergency veterinary care. The emergency vet provided Pepe with medications to be comfortable until receiving surgery to remove his eye. Sheila said Pepe was depressed and skittish after the surgery.

Next, the trial court heard from Dr. Hart. Dr. Hart stated she performed surgery following the trauma to Pepe's eye. She added that the penetrating injury was "rather catastrophic," describing it as going all the way through the globe, collapsing the eye, causing its contents to leak out, causing lots of discomfort, and raising the risk of infection. RP at 14. Therefore, she determined removal appropriate. Finally, Dr. Hart added that the injury was consistent with being shot in the eye by an object because of the hole seen in the cornea.

Surgery was performed on April 7. Pepe was discharged the following day. Dr. Hart noted Pepe has healed well.

Finally, the trial court heard testimony from Wentz, owner of Gator's Custom Guns. Wentz tested Robatcek's BB gun. Wentz testified that a pump action gun can be pumped anywhere from two to ten times per average manufacturer's recommendations. Therefore, the more it is pumped, the more power and range. Wentz added that in his experience, BB guns are a less accurate form of projectile, therefore, the less pressure applied the less accuracy he would expect.

Ultimately, the trial court found Robatcek guilty of animal cruelty in the first degree. The court applied the definition of "physical injury" from RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a), the definition statute from the criminal code, because the term was not defined in the animal cruelty statute. RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) defines "physical injury" as "physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition."

The trial court stated that when looking at RCW 16.52.205(1)(b) of the animal cruelty statute and applying the definition of "physical pain" from RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a),

the natural consequence of shooting at an animal with a BB gun is it's going to cause some pain. Doesn't have to be a great deal of pain. It just has to be pain. So, I don't doubt that this was more injury than he intended, but it was injury.

RP at 81-82. The trial court added that when looking at the physical evidence, the eye injury and the need for removal, it did not "buy" that Robatcek only pumped the BB gun twice. RP at 82.

At sentencing, the trial court imposed the standard range of 35 days with 30 days converted to community service. The court also determined Robatcek was indigent but imposed a \$500 VPA fee and \$100 DNA fee. Robatcek appeals.

#### ANALYSIS

Robatcek asserts that the trial court erred when applying the definition of "physical injury" from RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to animal cruelty under RCW 16.52.205(1). He further alleges that the evidence fails to show he had the necessary specific intent to cause substantial pain. Finally, he asserts, and the State concedes, that the trial court erred in imposing unauthorized LFOs. We address each argument in turn, beginning with Robatcek's statutory interpretation arguments related to the definition of "physical injury."

#### I. DEFINITION OF "PHYSICAL INJURY" IN RCW 16.52.205(1)

#### A. Legal Principles

We review questions of statutory interpretation de novo. *PeaceHealth St. Joseph Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 196 Wn.2d 1, 7, 468 P.3d 1056 (2020). We may affirm on any ground the record adequately supports. *Skinner v. Holgate*, 141 Wn. App. 840, 849, 173 P.3d 300 (2007).

"The object of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." *State v. Sanchez*, 177 Wn.2d 835, 842, 306 P.3d 935 (2013). Statutory construction begins by reading the text of the statute or statutes involved. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196 (2005).

Courts derive legislative intent from "the plain language of the statute, considering the text of the provision, the context of the statute, related provisions, amendments, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *PeaceHealth*, 196 Wn.2d at 8. If there are any undefined terms, the term's plain and ordinary meaning applies. *Clark County v. Portland Vancouver Junction R.R.*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 289, 295, 485 P.3d 985 (2021). When determining the meaning of undefined terms, a court "will consider the statute as a whole and provide such meaning to the term as is in harmony with other statutory provisions." *Heinsma v. City of Vancouver*, 144 Wn.2d 556, 564, 29 P.3d 709 (2001). Under rules of statutory construction, "no part of a statute should be deemed inoperative or superfluous unless it is the result of obvious mistake or error." *In re Det. of Strand*, 167 Wn.2d 180, 189, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009) (quoting *Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp.*, 117 Wn.2d 1, 13, 810 P.2d 917, 817 P.2d 1359 (1991)). If necessary, we may also rely on the dictionary or thesaurus when interpreting statutes. *State v. Kintz*, 169 Wn.2d 537, 547, 238 P.3d 470 (2010).

### 57795-0-II

Intent to cause either "substantial pain" or "physical injury" under RCW 16.52.205<sup>2</sup>

Chapter 16.52 RCW governs prevention of cruelty to animals. RCW 16.52.205(1) provides,

A person is guilty of animal cruelty in the first degree when, except as authorized in law, *he or she intentionally* (a) inflicts substantial pain on, *(b) causes physical injury to*, or (c) kills an animal by a means causing undue suffering or while manifesting an extreme indifference to life, or forces a minor to inflict unnecessary pain, injury, or death on an animal.

(Emphasis added.) RCW 16.52.011 provides definitions to be used in interpreting chapter 16.52 RCW. RCW 16.52.011 does not include a definition for "physical injury."

Robatcek argues that the trial court's reliance on the definition of "physical injury" in RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) renders superfluous RCW 16.52.205(1)(a), which provides an alternative for violating the statute when one "intentionally inflict[s] substantial pain." Br. of Appellant at 7 (internal quotation marks omitted). This is so, he argues, because "physical injury" includes "any pain whatsoever, including minor discomfort." Appellant's Br. at 7. But we disagree because even if we were to conclude that physical injury includes minor discomfort (a conclusion we do not reach here), physical injury is a broader definition than substantial pain, including "physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of physical condition." RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a). While substantial pain is undefined, we recognize that we must interpret statutes to avoid rendering statutory language "inoperative or superfluous unless it is the result of obvious mistake or error." *Strand*, 167 Wn.2d at 189 (quoting *Klein*, 117 Wn.2d at 13). Robatcek makes no such showing here. His argument fails.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The State charged Robatcek under both prongs of RCW 16.52.205, but the superior court ultimately found Robatcek guilty under RCW 16.52.205(1)(b) "causes physical injury." Accordingly, we address only that portion of the statute.

Robatcek next argues the legislature did not intend to import RCW 9A.04.110's definition of "physical injury" into chapter 16.52 RCW because if it did so intend, it would have incorporated the definition expressly as it had elsewhere in chapter 16.52 RCW.

Robatcek directs us to RCW 16.52.011, the definition section of chapter 16.52 RCW, where at subsections (k) and (q), the legislature expressly incorporated definitions for "malice" and "substantial bodily harm," respectively, from RCW 9A.04.110 into chapter 16.52 RCW. He correctly highlights the legislature could have incorporated the definition for "physical injury" expressly as it did for the definitions of "malice" and "substantial bodily harm." Robatcek ends this portion of his analysis there. Presumably, he intends to convey that because the legislature expressly incorporated definitions from chapter 9A.04 RCW elsewhere in chapter 16.52 RCW, but did not do so here, the result is that the trial court is prohibited from incorporating the definition of "physical injury" from chapter 9A.04 RCW. We disagree.

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