FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2024 12:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1034199

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

ROGER AUGUST ROBATCEK,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

MEGHAN E. DUNLAP, WSBA #52619 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney Hall of Justice 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91091

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Meghan E. Dunlap, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter. The Respondent respectfully requests the Court deny review of the July 30, 2024, Court of Appeals' Opinion in *State of Washington v. Roger August Robatcek*, Court of Appeals No. 57795-0-II.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Should the Supreme Court accept review of Robatcek's Petition for Review, when he has failed to meet any of the grounds governing review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)?
- (2) Was the evidence sufficient to prove Robatcek committed Animal Cruelty in the First Degree?

(3)Did the trial court error in applying the RCW9A.04.110(4)(a) definition of "physical injury" to the first-degree animal cruelty statute?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 5, 2022, around 3:00 p.m., Nicholas Scardino was outside in his backyard in Longview, tuning up his lawn mower so that he could mow the lawn. RP 22. Mr. Scardino lived at the residence with his mother, Sheila Scardino who was at work at the time. RP 9. The Scardinos had a dog named Peppy. RP 9. Peppy was a Shih Tzu that was approximately 12-yearsold. RP 22. Because Mr. Scardino intended to mow his back yard, he had left Peppy on a runner in the front of his house next to his carport. RP 22.

Before Mr. Scardino could start his lawn mower, he heard noises coming from the side of the house, so he went to see what was going on. RP 22. He went to his fence and looked around the side of the house into Robatcek's back yard. RP 26. Robatcek was in his back yard on the other side of the fence, aiming what looked like a rifle toward Peppy. He then fired it at Peppy, striking him directly in the eye. CP 27.

Mr. Scardino asked Robatcek what he was doing, and Robatcek told him that he had shot Peppy because he was barking. RP 27. Robatcek then walked back inside his house. RP 27.

At trial, Robatcek testified that he aimed at Peppy's "ass." RP 60. He stated that he meant to hit Peppy, as his intent was to hit Peppy to "tap" the dog to get him to be quiet. RP 59.

Dr. Janine Hart, a veterinarian, treated Peppy and determined that his eye had to be removed. RP 12-13. She described Peppy's eye as a "penetrating injury to the eye that was rather catastrophic." RP 14. She further explained that the injury had collapsed the eye and that if the eye were not removed, Peppy would not be able to see what he was doing. If that were the case, he ran the risk of running into things and causing further injury. RP 14-15. Dr. Hart testified that the injury was consistent with being shot in the eye with an object. RP 17. Dr. Hart also used various pain scales to determine that Peppy needed pain medication. RP 19. She testified that she had determined that "the eye was definitely painful and was causing him a lot of discomfort." RP 20.

On cross examination, Robatcek testified that he had owned his airsoft rifle for approximately 10 years and used it to shoot at birds in his garden. RP 64-65. When asked if he had ever been able to hit any of the birds, he responded that he "touched their tail feathers enough to drive them off." RP 65.

On December 8, 2022, the Court found Robetcek guilty of Animal Cruelty in the First degree after a bench trial. Robetcek appealed. The Court of Appeals Division II affirmed Robetcek's conviction and remanded for the trial court to strike the VPA and DNA fees. *State of Washington v. Roger August Robatcek*, Court of Appeals No. 57795-0-II. Robatcek then petition for review by this court. A. This Supreme Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' Decision because it does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Because Robatcek's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The court uses three factors to determine whether a matter is of substantial public interest. The court considers "the public or private nature of the question presented, the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and the likelihood of future recurrence of the question." Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972).

Robatcek claims that there is a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). He claims that the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case effectively criminalizes pet owners from training or otherwise disciplining their pets. However, pet training and discipline does not involve shooting an animal with a pellet gun or causing permanent disfigurement.

Looking at the factors, there is no public interest in this case. Pet training and discipline are private matters and are not the issue that was before the Court of Appeals. The opinion did not render pet training illegal. Second, there is no need for an authoritative determination for future guidance. Police officers, lawyers, and judges are not going to read the opinion and believe it is a crime to spray a cat in the face as discipline, or to use an electric fence to keep track of cattle. These practices are done for the purpose of training or containing their own pets. These cause

6

mild discomfort. The trial court found actual physical injury. There was pain and Peppy suffered permanent disfigurement in losing his eye. Shooting a neighbor's dog in the eye is an entirely different situation.

Last, the likelihood that the question of whether the "physical injury" definition applied in this case is unlikely to come up in the future. The trial court did not find that Peppy suffered "mild discomfort," as Robatcek's claim rests upon. The court found that Peppy suffered actual pain from being shot directly in the eye, which fit the definition of "physical injury" that the court properly applied. Peppy's eye had to be removed, which created a permanent disfigurement.

Robatcek has not met any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). Because there is no substantial public interest, the court should deny review. B. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did not err applying the RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) definition of "physical injury" to the first-degree animal cruelty statute.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court properly applied RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to the "physical injury" element required by RCW 16.52.205. "If necessary, we may also rely on the dictionary or thesaurus when interpreting statutes." *State v. Kintz*, 169 Wn.2d 537, 547, 238 P.3d 470 (2010). Robatcek claims that the trial court errored in using RCW 9A.04.110(4) to define "physical injury." However, "physical injury" is not defined in RCW 16.52.205, so the trial court found it necessary to turn to another source for a definition. The Court of Appeals correctly agreed that turning to another statute was reasonable, when use of a dictionary or thesaurus is sufficient under the law.

There are three different ways for the State to prove Animal Cruelty in the First Degree. One of the ways is to show that the defendant intentionally caused physical injury to the animal. A person is guilty of animal cruelty in the first degree when, except as authorized in law, he or she intentionally (a) inflicts substantial pain on, (b) causes physical injury to, or (c) kills an animal by a means causing undue suffering while manifesting an extreme indifference to life, or forces a minor to inflict unnecessary pain, injury, or death on an animal.

RCW 16.52.205(1). RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) states: "Bodily injury," "physical injury," or "Bodily harm" "means physical pain or injury, illness, or an impairment of a physical condition."

Robatcek argued that the trial court's reliance on the "physical injury" definition in RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) renders RCW 16.52.205(1) superfluous. The Court of Appeals correctly disagreed. It found that it was reasonable to use the definition from RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) when, absent a definition in the statute, the courts can turn to a dictionary or thesaurus for a definition. Because the Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court properly applied RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to the first-degree animal cruelty statute, this court should deny review of this case.

C. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there was sufficient evidence proving Robatcek's conviction.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there was sufficient evidence for the trial court to find Robatcek committed Animal Cruelty in the First Degree. "When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, we examine whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, "Any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt."" State v. Frahm, 193 Wn.2d 590, 595, 444 P.3d 595 (2019) (quoting State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). Robatcek claims that because he believes the trial court allowed "mild discomfort" to meet the physical injury element, that a rational trier of fact could not have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. However, that argument fails because the trial court did not find that "mild discomfort" fit the definition under RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a). The trial court found that Peppy suffered actual physical pain when Robatcek shot him in the eye. As a result, Peppy will have to live without the eye for the rest of his life.

The trial court found that the State met all the elements of Animal Cruelty in the First Degree. One of the elements of that offense is "physical injury." Robatcek argues that because he does not believe that definition should have been used, that evidence was not sufficient. However, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court properly applied RCW 9A.04.110(4)(a) to the first-degree animal cruelty statute and agreed that there was sufficient evidence to prove all the elements of the State's case against Robatcek. Therefore, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the evidence was sufficient. Because Robatcek did not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b), his petition for review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

Because Robatcek.'s petition fails to meet any of the considerations governing acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied.